IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC EDENFIELD Petitioner, Case No.: SC10-2146 L.T. Case No(s).: 1D09-6554 2009-AP-34

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S CORRECTED¹ INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EPSTEIN & ROBBINS

BY _____

DAVID M. ROBBINS, ESQ. Fl. Bar No. 152433 SUSAN Z. COHEN, ESQ. Fl. Bar No.: 515787 233 E. Bay Street, Suite 1125 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 354-5645 Attorneys for Petitioner

¹ The only corrections are the inclusion of "Page ii,

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, Petitioner shall be referred to as "Petitioner" or Edenfield. Respondent shall be referred to as "Respondent" or State. Reference to the appropriate pages of the Petitioner's Appendix attached to the Initial Brief on the Merits, shall be made by A. followed by the exhibit number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was arrested and charged with driving under the influence on January 12, 2009. On that same date, a conviction was entered against the Petitioner based on a plea of nolo contendere. (A. 14-20, 34-37). The Petitioner, who was charged with an offense punishable by incarceration, was not represented at that time by counsel. Further the record does not establish compliance with Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111 related to knowing and intelligent waivers of counsel. (A. 21-38). The trial court did not file a notice of "no incarceration."²

The issue in this case arose in the context of a plea entered at a first appearance bond hearing. The Petitioner appeared for his first appearance hearing after having been arrested for DUI several hours prior to his appearance. Prior to being called before the judge, the Petitioner was provided a form entitled "Plea of Guilty or No Contest." This form is referred to as a "blue form" and contains an advisement of rights, the minimum and maximum penalties for driving under the

² Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111 provides that upon the filing of a notice of no incarceration, a defendant does not have to be provided counsel.

influence, a statement that the plea is freely and voluntarily entered, a statement that the defendant has been advised of his right to an attorney, that if he cannot afford one, one will be appointed, and that he is waiving that right to an attorney and requesting to represent himself. This form also contains a paragraph stating that the defendant has discussed all the aspects of his case with his attorney and that he is satisfied with his attorney's representation, if applicable. (A. 14-20).

The form also contains several paragraphs stating that the court has asked the Petitioner about the form, that he has had sufficient time for consideration of his choice to enter a plea, and that he understands that he could have had more time to reflect if he needed it, and that the court has advised the Petitioner that he has 30 days to appeal and that if he could not afford an attorney one would be provided for him. (A. 19-20).

Also prior to the beginning of Edenfield's first appearance hearing, a videotaped advisement of rights was shown to the entire group of defendants awaiting hearings along with him.³ (A. 23-33). This videotape, played as a matter of course to all defendants awaiting first appearance hearings, addresses both felony and misdemeanor defendants. The videotape advises of the defendants' rights, including the right to counsel, including the advantages of being represented by counsel and the dangers of self-representation. (A. 23-25).

³ County Court Judge Eleni Derke is speaking on the videotape.

The videotape advises those charged with felonies that the hearing about to begin is a probable cause determination and a bond hearing. (A. 25). The misdemeanor defendants are told that the hearing that is about to begin is their arraignment. They are further told that when they appear before the court it will be necessary to enter a plea. (A. 28). The videotape explains the types of pleas, and the maximum and minimum penalties for first and second degree misdemeanors. The videotape advises that the maximum and minimum penalties for the charge of driving under the influence are contained on the form that had been provided to the defendants charged with driving under the influence. (A. 27-28). The defendants are warned of the rights that they are waiving by the entry of a plea of guilty or no contest. (A. 29). During the course of the videotape, Judge Derke discusses, among other things, the possibility of release should a defendant plead not guilty, as well as other issues. (A. 30-33).

After the videotape was played in this case, the trial court asked the group of defendants as a whole whether there was anyone who did not have an opportunity to view the videotape or did not understand the rights conveyed by Judge Derke on the videotape. After Receiving no response, the trial court then proceeded to conduct individual first appearance hearings.

When the Petitioner first appeared before the trial court for his first appearance bond hearing, the trial court did not address the question of release with the Petitioner. The complete colloquy between the trial court and the

Petitioner is as follows:

The Court: Eric Edenfield. All right. Mr. Edenfield, you are charged with driving under the influence. Same question to you as to the others. You are not required to respond but if you do, it must be truthful. Do you have any prior convictions for DUI here or anywhere else?

Edenfield: No, sir.

The Court: All right. You appear to fall into the same minimum mandatories. Do you want me to go back over them with you?

Edenfield: No, sir.

The Court: Did you wish for me to appoint counsel or do you wish to handle the case yourself?

Edenfield: I will do it myself.

The Court: All right. Have you read through that blue form?

Edenfield: Yes, sir.

The Court: Okay. Do you understand all the rights on the blue form?

Edenfield: Yes, sir.

The Court: How do you plead to the charge?

Edenfield: No contest.

The Court: All right. If you will[,] please sign the blue form and the waiver of right to counsel form...Okay. Mr. Edenfield, you have entered a plea of no contest to one count of DUI. Do you understand that by entering that plea you are giving up the right to a trial, the right to remain silent during the course of the trial, the right to the

assistance of a lawyer during the trial, the right to compel the attendance of witnesses to testify on your behalf, the right to confront and cross-examine any witness who might be called to testify against you, and the right to have the State prove its charges against you beyond a reasonable doubt? Do you understand all of those rights that are you (sic) giving up?

Edenfield: Yes, sir.

The Court : Are you entering this plea today because you believe it is in your best interest to do so?

Edenfield: Yes, sir.

The Court: All right. I will find that the plea is freely and voluntarily entered with the full understanding of its nature and consequences. I also find that there is a factual basis for the entry of the plea based on the sworn narrative in the arrest and booking report. At this time, Mr. Edenfield, on your plea I will adjudicate you guilty of DUI... (A. 34-36).

On February 17, 2009, the Petitioner filed a motion to withdraw his plea

alleging that his right to counsel had been violated. (A. 39-42). At the hearing the

Petitioner relied on the transcript of the plea proceedings. The trial court made it

clear that the procedure used for Mr. Edenfield's and all other first appearance

hearings was designed to save time:

The county judges many years ago spent a great deal of time in drafting a general advisement of rights to defendants in first appearance courts and Judge Derke was kind enough to volunteer to be the person who would be videotaped to provide that advisement of rights because from a real world standpoint the rules require that we provide a first appearance hearing to individuals within 24 hours, and the real world facts are that sometimes we are confronted with the first appearance of over 100 defendants in each sessions... (A. 54). The court then asked defense counsel, "[i]s it your position – and I have got to go through the whole 13-minute speech with Mr. Edenfield before I have obtained a valid waiver of counsel if he chooses to represent himself?" (A. 54).

After further discussion regarding what is required by a court, the trial court stated,

I try not to assume that everybody that it (sic) appears before me is an idiot. I try to assume that when I ask generally to people have you heard this, is there anybody who didn't understand it? Tell me. I will go over it with you individually.

That gives me the confidence that the individuals have heard it and understand it, and when we then give them an additional rights form and plea form and I ask them have you read it, have you understood it and they say, yes, I have and I did that they are telling me the truth and it gives me the confidence that they understand all their rights.

(A. 56-57). Before ruling, the trial court further noted,

Either I have got to be there for 24 hours to handle a three-hour calendar before the next three-hour calendar comes up^4 . Maybe that's a decision I have got to start doing but it frustrates me all of these rights that we do have to be compatible with a system of justice that protects a defendant's rights but still works.

You know, on someone like Mr. Edenfield do I need to inquire about his educational level or can I assume because he is a J.E.A.⁵ lineman he has a certain level of smarts? He knows not to put electric plugs in his mouth and then plug them into a wall socket. He's at a certain level.

(A. 58-59).

⁴ As reflected in the plea transcript, the first appearance proceedings in this case began at 1:48 and ended at 3:48. (A. 21, 37)

⁵ Jacksonville Electric Company

After additional discussion, the trial court denied the motion to withdraw plea. On appeal, the circuit court affirmed the decision of the trial court without opinion. (A. 6). The Petitioner sought certiorari review in the First District Court of Appeal.

On August 10, 2010, the First District Court of Appeal entered a written opinion denying the Petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari. In that opinion, the district court found that the showing of the videotape, the written plea form, and the above colloquy were sufficient to meet the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111. The district court further noted, "[h]ad the County Court harbored misgivings over Edenfield's competency, it would not have accepted the waiver. Apparently, it had no concerns." *Edenfield v. State*, 45 So.3d 26, 32 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010), *reh'g denied* (Sept. 29, 2010), *review granted*, SC10-2146, 2011 WL 2772202 (Fla. June 17, 2011).

Motions for certification, rehearing, and rehearing *en banc* were timely filed on August 25, 2010. These motions were denied on September 29, 2010. The Petitioner's notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on October 28, 2010. Mr. Edenfield was not incarcerated.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal held that as long as a defendant is advised of the right to counsel and advised of the dangers of proceeding without counsel, an expressed desire to waive counsel is sufficient to meet the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d) that a court engage in a thorough inquiry into a defendant's comprehension of the offer of counsel and capacity to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of counsel. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal in the case at bar disregards the plain meaning of the word "inquiry" as set out in the rule, and misapplies the prior decisions of this Court. Further, it contravenes the right to counsel as established in sections 2 and 16 of article I of the Florida Constitution and applied by Florida Courts.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d) requires both an advisement and an inquiry. The law is well settled that one without the other is not sufficient. A trial court must both fully advise a defendant of his right to counsel, including the dangers of proceeding without counsel, and engage in a discussion with a defendant regarding his understanding of that right. The fact that the defendant has been fully advised through a videotape and a written plea form does not absolve a court from having a conversation with a defendant sufficient to establish that the defendant fully understands both the right to counsel, the offer of counsel and the consequences of waiving counsel.

Furthermore, the district court's finding that Edenfield's waiver of counsel was sufficient based on the failure of the trial court to express any concerns is contrary to the well settled law. A trial court must engage in a thorough inquiry

⁸

into such matters as age, education, mental condition, prior experience with criminal proceedings, or any other inquiries which would assist a court in determining whether a waiver of the right to counsel is knowingly and intelligently entered and this inquiry must appear in the record of the proceedings. The record contains no such inquiry. Although there are no "magic words," a court must engage in some questioning of the defendant that will provide the court an opportunity to ascertain a defendant's level of comprehension regarding the waiver of the right to counsel. The mere fact that the trial court expressed no concern about the defendant's waiver is not sufficient to establish compliance with Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111 or the Florida Constitution.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for review for a petition for writ of certiorari is whether or not the lower court "departed from the essential requirements of the law." *Combs v. State*, 436 So. 2d 93, 95-6 (Fla. 1983).

The phrase "departure from the essential requirements of law" should not be narrowly construed so as to apply only to violations which effectively deny appellate review or which pertain to the regularity of procedure. In granting writs of common-law certiorari, the district courts of appeal should not be as concerned with the mere existence of legal error as much as with the seriousness of the error. *State v. Steele*, 921 So. 2d 538, 541 (Fla. 2005). *See also <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Kaklamanos, 843 So. 2d 885, 889 (Fla. 2003)</u> ("the departure from the essential requirements of the law necessary for the issuance of a writ of certiorari is something more than a simple legal error").*

ISSUE PRESENTED

ADVISEMENT REGARDING THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL AND AN EXPRESSED DESIRE TO WAIVE COUNSEL IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF FLA. R. CRIM. P. 3.111(D) THAT A COURT ENGAGE IN A THOROUGH INQUIRY INTO A DEFENDANT'S COMPREHENSION OF THE OFFER OF COUNSEL AND CAPACITY TO MAKE A KNOWING AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF COUNSEL.

As recognized by this Court in Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957, 970 (Fla.

1992), this Court has promulgated Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d) in order to ensure

compliance with the requirements for a knowing waiver of the right to counsel

afforded under the Florida Constitution. In setting out the requirements for such a

waiver, this Court relied on Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45

L. Ed. 2d 562 and. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d) provides:

(1) The failure of a defendant to request appointment of counsel or **the announced intention of a defendant to plead guilty shall not, in itself, constitute a waiver of counsel** at any stage of the proceedings.

(2) A defendant shall not be considered to have waived the assistance of counsel until the entire process of offering counsel has been completed **and a thorough** inquiry has been made into both the accused's comprehension of that offer and the accused's capacity to make a knowing and intelligent waiver. Before determining whether the waiver is knowing and intelligent, the court shall advise the defendant of the disadvantages and dangers of self-representation.

Compliance with the dictates of this rule is mandatory. *State v. Young*, 626 So.2d 655 (Fla.1993); *Hardwick v. State*, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988). *See also Tennis v. State*, 997 So.2d 375, 379 (Fla. 2008)("Under this Court's clear precedent, and that of the district courts of appeal, the trial court's failure to hold a *Faretta* hearing in this case to determine whether Tennis could represent himself is per se reversible error.").

In the case at bar, the First District Court held that the following was adequate to meet the requirements of a "thorough inquiry" under the Florida Constitution and Rule 3.111 (d): 1) the showing of the aforementioned videotape, 2) providing documents to the defendant advising him of his right to counsel and the dangers of proceeding without counsel, 3) an assertion by the Petitioner that he did not want counsel appointed⁶ and would represent himself, 4) an affirmative response by the Petitioner to the question of whether he understood the rights on the "blue form," and 5) another affirmative response from the Petitioner after the

⁶ A review of the transcript also shows that the only choices afforded the Petitioner were waiver or the public defender. The Petitioner was not offered the choice of obtaining private counsel.

entry of his plea that he understood the rights he was giving up by the entry of his plea. The district court made this finding in spite of its acknowledgement that the transcript of the plea shows that the inquiry was "brief." The district court found only that, "[h]ad the County Court harbored misgivings over Edenfield's competency, it would not have accepted the waiver. Apparently, it had no concerns." *Edenfield*, 45 So.3d at 32. The decision holds, therefore, that the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111 are satisfied by an **advisement** of the right to counsel alone without any **inquiry**. This finding is in direct contravention of the rule and the well-settled law in this State.

In *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), the Florida Supreme Court recounted the factors outlined by the Eleventh Circuit in *United States v. Fant*, 890 F.2d 408 (11th Cir. 1989), for considering whether a defendant has made a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel in a *Faretta* hearing. These factors included; (1) the background, experience and conduct of the defendant including his age, educational background, and his physical and mental health; (2) the extent to which the defendant had contact with lawyers prior to trial; (3) the defendant's knowledge of the nature of the charges, the possible defenses, and the possible penalty; (4) the defendant's understanding of the rules of procedure, evidence and courtroom decorum; (5) the defendant's experience in criminal trials; (6) whether standby counsel was appointed, and the

extent to which he aided the defendant; (7) whether the waiver of counsel was the result of mistreatment or coercion; or (8) whether the defendant was trying to manipulate the events of the trial. *Porter* 788 So. 2d at 927. The record of the plea proceedings fails to establish that the trial court inquired, or was otherwise made aware of any of, or in any way considered the above factors.

It is important to note that these factors apply to a proceeding that is generally called in the middle of a case in response to a represented defendant's request to proceed *pro se*, often because he does not like the representation he has received. Indeed, by its very nature, a *Faretta* hearing is triggered when a *defendant* has requested a waiver of counsel and such request may only attach when it is "clear and unequivocal." *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 825; *see also Hardwick v. State*, 521 So. 2d 1071, 1074 (1988) ("courts have long required that a request for self-representation be stated unequivocally"). In the scenario at bar, where the court *sua sponte* asks the defendants if they want to waive counsel, even further protection should be provided.

As set out in Petitioner's jurisdictional brief, the district court cited to this Court's decisions in *Bowen v. State*, 698 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1997), *Potts v. State*, 718 So. 2d 757 (Fla. 1998), *Hill v. State*, 688 So. 2d 901(Fla. 1997), and *Rogers v. Singletary*, 698 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1997). In *Bowen*, however, the issue was whether or not a court may require a defendant who knowingly and intelligently waives counsel to be represented by counsel because of concern that the defendant might be deprived of a fair trial. This Court held that the dictates of *Faretta* were satisfied in that case by a discussion between the defendant and the court regarding the defendant's decision to waive the right to counsel which comprised nearly fifteen (15) pages of a transcript. In the case at bar the discussion between the court and the Petitioner, including the entire plea colloquy and part of the sentencing, comprised one and a half pages of a transcript.

Likewise, in *Potts*, although this Court found in *Potts* that there were no "magic words" which must be used in advising a defendant regarding the waiver of counsel, this Court held that the requirements of *Faretta*⁷ were met because the court discussed self-representation with the defendant in detail and at length. The court on one occasion held a full-fledged *Faretta* hearing-comprising nearly fifteen pages of record transcript-wherein the court inquired in detail into Potts' age, education, and legal experience. *Id.* at 760.

In *Hill*, this Court did find that the inquiry need only ensure the defendant is "alerted generally to the difficulties of navigating the legal system," as noted by the First District Court, however, this Court again recognized that the trial court

⁷ *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1963). Although the inquiry under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.111(d) is also referred to as a *Faretta* inquiry, R. 3.111(d) is grounded in the Florida State Constitution and provides even greater protections than the U.S. Constitution. *Traylor v. State*, 596 So. 2d 957, 970 (Fla. 1992); *Iowa v. Tovar*, 541 U.S. 77, 94 (2004).

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