IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC EDENFIELD,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC10-2146

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

JOSHUA R. HELLER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0502901

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Throughout the course of the various lower court proceedings in this case, Petitioner has raised different, and sometimes conflicting arguments.

Accordingly, his claims are largely unpreserved, procedurally barred and abandoned at various times.

Even if Petitioner's claims were properly considered on the merits, the are meritless. As this case is a result of a certiorari petition to the district court, Petitioner must demonstrate, not just legal error, but a departure from the essential requirements of law resulting in a gross miscarriage of justice. Petitioner cannot meet this heavy burden.

Although Petitioner and his Amici express hostility or outright denial to it, Petitioner has a constitutional <u>right</u> to self-representation, and a court that denies Petitioner that desire to exercise that right with a general understanding of the value of counsel violates that defendant's constitutional rights.

Petitioner's argument here, that the trial court must specifically ask questions regarding a Petitioner's age, education, experience with the justice system, and the nature and complexity of the case, as well as other factors, relies on an outdated form of Rule 3.111, is contrary to this Court and the United States Supreme Court's repeated pronouncements. Further, those district court cases that indicate otherwise are incorrect for the same reason. A competent defendant who has been advised of the disadvantages and dangers of self-representation cannot be denied the right to self-representation, regardless of age, education, experience, or the

nature of complexity of the case. The words the trial court employs are not what matters. What matters is that the defendant made a knowing an voluntary waiver and decision to exercise his right to self-representation. Petitioner's premise that a formulaic script of "magic words" is necessary is simply incorrect.

Petitioner also makes a number of erroneous implications about Rule 3.111's use of the phrase "thorough inquiry." However, Petitioner fallaciously presumes that an "inquiry" cannot be anything but entirely verbal, and that an "inquiry" cannot be "thorough" unless it is lengthy in duration. A court can "inquire" both verbally and by examining the record before it. A court may inquire "thoroughly" even when the length of time it engages in the inquiry is brief or does not encompass extensive pages of transcript. Neither of these implications is true. Yet both of these implications inform Petitioner's "form over substance" argument.

Petitioner also ignores that, as a result of his plea, there are two significant points relevant to his case. First, Petitioner has the burden to demonstrate that <u>his</u> plea was not, in fact, knowing and voluntary. Yet, Petitioner utterly failed in this burden as, when offered to opportunity to present evidence that he <u>in fact</u> failed to understand his rights, Petitioner <u>specifically declined</u> to do so, expressly choosing to offer <u>no</u> evidence that his plea was, in any way, involuntary.

Petitioner also repeatedly relies on cases involving a defendant who wishes to engage in self-representation for trial, not for entry of a plea. Yet, Petitioner ignores that the dangers and disadvantages of self-

representation for a plea are quite different than they are for trial. Indeed, a defendant can often make a rational chose to engage in self-representation for a plea for any number of reasons. Nevertheless, the reason why a defendant chooses to exercise his right to self-representation is not decisive; only that the defendant knowingly and voluntarily chooses to do so "with eyes open."

Here, after being extensively informed of his constitutional right to counsel, the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation via a lengthy video presentation, and thorough inquiry by the county court judge into the record and discussion with Petitioner, Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel and exercised his right to self-representation to enter a plea. Indeed, on no less than <u>six times</u> on <u>three</u> occasions during his first appearance, Petitioner was informed of and waived his right to counsel.

Petitioner has failed to meet his burden to demonstrate that the Circuit Court's affirmance of the County Court's denial of Petitioner's motion to withdraw his plea was a departure from the essential requirements of law resulting in a manifest injustice. This Court should approve the decision of the First District.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE: WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT DEPARTED FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW IN AFFIRMING THE COUNTY COURT ORDER FINDING THAT PETITIONER'S WAIVER OF COUNSEL AND DECISION TO REPRESENT HIMSELF WAS SUFFICIENT TO PLEAD GUILTY. (RESTATED)

A. Standard of Review.

The decision under review was not a direct appeal from the denial of Petitioner's motion to withdraw plea. The circuit court affirmed the county court's denial on direct appeal. Petitioner then sought certiorari in the DCA. A petition for writ of certiorari should be granted only when the lower tribunal has acted beyond its jurisdiction or in a manner that departed from the essential requirements of law. Haines City Community Development v. Heggs, 658 So. 2d 523, 525 (Fla. 1995). Departure from the essential requirements of the law has been defined as "a violation of a clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice." Combs v. State, 436 So. 2d 93, 96 (Fla. 1983).

"It is well-established that certiorari should not be used as a vehicle for a second appeal in a typical case tried in county court." Ivey v. Allstate Ins. Co., 774 So. 2d 679, 682 (Fla. 2000). "A decision made according to the form of the law and the rules prescribed for rendering it, although it may be erroneous in its conclusion as applied to the facts, is not an illegal or irregular act or proceeding remedial by certiorari." Heggs, 658 So. 2d at 525. "Instead, we held that the proper inquiry under certiorari review is limited to whether the circuit court afforded procedural due process and whether it applied the correct law." Ivey, 774

So. 2d at 682; see also Combs, 436 So. 2d at 95 (in considering common law certiorari, district courts of appeal should be primarily concerned with the seriousness of the error, not the mere existence of error, and should exercise certiorari discretion only when there has been a violation of clearly established principles of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos, 843 So. 2d 885, 889 (Fla. 2003)("the departure from the essential requirements of the law necessary for the issuance of a writ of certiorari is something more than a simple legal error"). In other words:

The required "departure from the essential requirements of law" means something far beyond legal error. It means an inherent illegality or irregularity, an abuse of judicial power, an act of judicial tyranny perpetrated with disregard of requirements, resulting in a gross miscarriage of justice. The writ of certiorari properly issues to correct essential illegality but not legal error.

Heggs, 658 So. 2d at 527-28 (quoting Jines v. State, 477 So. 2d 566, 569 (Fla. 1985)(Boyd, C.J., concurring specially.)).

Accordingly, it should be noted at the outset that the DCA was not reviewing Petitioner's case for "simple legal error." Petitioner was not entitled to relief in the DCA unless he demonstrated that the circuit court, on appeal, afforded procedural due process and applied the correct law. The DCA clearly did not err in applying that standard.¹

¹ When raised on direct appeal, "[w]hen reviewing a trial court's handling of a request for self-representation, the standard of review is abuse of discretion." Aguirre-Jarquin v. State, 9 So. 3d 593, 602 (Fla. 2009).

B. Petitioner's Claim that the Trial Court Failed to Ask Specific Questions Regarding Age, Education, and Experience Are Procedurally Barred.

Petitioner's claim regarding his education was not properly brought to the county court's attention nor raised on appeal before the Circuit Court. This argument was not in his Motion to Withdraw Plea and was not mentioned at the hearing on the claim. (Pet. App. 53-56, 68-83.) Rather, Petitioner raised this argument, for the first time, in his Motion for Rehearing. (Pet. App. 59-60.) However, Petitioner then <u>abandoned</u> that Motion for Rehearing by filing a Notice of Appeal before it was resolved. (Pet. App. 61.)

Rule 9.020(h) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that rendition of an Order is tolled by the filing of a timely motion for rehearing. However, subsection (c) establishes that the filing of a notice of appeal abandons a pending motion for rehearing, and provides, in relevant part:

If such a motion or motions have been filed and a notice of appeal is filed before the filing of a signed, written order disposing of all such motions, all motions filed by the appealing party that are pending at the time shall be deemed abandoned, and the final order shall be deemed rendered by the filing of the notice of appeal as to all claims between parties who then have no such motions pending between them. . . .

FLA. R. APP. P. 9.020(h)(3).

Because Petitioner abandoned his motion for rehearing, any claims raised in that motion for rehearing were not properly preserved for appellate review by the Circuit Court and are procedurally barred from being raised on certiorari.

Furthermore, on appeal to the Circuit Court, Petitioner's entire argument was that the county court erred because the county court failed to engage in an "individual inquiry" and, therefore, not a "proper inquiry," not that the "inquiry" was not "thorough" because specific questions about age, education, and experience were not asked. (Pet. App. 99-120.) The argument Petitioner has presented to this Court is quite different than the one he presented to the county court (and did not abandon) and the Circuit Court and is unpreserved.

Both Florida Statutes and Florida case law require a defendant to preserve issues for appellate review by raising them first in the trial court. Section 924.051, Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part:

- (3) An appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error. A judgment or sentence may be reversed on appeal only when an appellate court determines after a review of the complete record that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved in the trial court, or if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error.
- § 924.051(3), FLA. STAT. (2008) (emphasis added). Under the statute, "preserved" means an issue or legal argument timely raised and ruled on by the trial court, that is "sufficiently precise that it fairly apprised the court of the relief trial sought and the grounds therefor." \S 924.051(1)(b), Fia. STAT. (2008) (emphasis added). These statutory provisions are consistent with this Court's holdings requiring preservation As this Court has found, proper preservation entails three of error. First, a litigant must make a timely, contemporaneous objection. Second, the party must state a legal ground for that objection.

Third, "[i]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982); accord Rodriguez v. State, 609 So. 2d 493, 499 (Fla. 1992) (stating that "the specific legal ground upon which a claim is based must be raised at trial and a claim different than that will not be heard on appeal"), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 830 (1993). The purpose of this rule is to "place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings." Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978).

In reply before the district court, Petitioner asserted that his claim was one of fundamental error, referencing cases involving an inadequate or non-existent Faretta inquiry at trial. However, as discussed at length below, in this case, Petitioner entered a plea. Rule 9.140(b)(2)(A)(ii)c is unambiguous: "A defendant may not appeal from a guilty or nolo contendre plea except . . an involuntary plea, if preserved by a motion to withdraw plea." Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(b)(2)(A)(ii)c.

Because Petitioner abandoned the only point where he made this argument in the county court (as well as not obtaining a ruling on the claim by the county court), this argument was not preserved for the Circuit Court on appeal. Additionally, because Petitioner's argument in the Circuit Court—that a inquiry must be completely individual—was not made before this Court, Petitioner is making claims different than those he made below and they are not preserved.

Furthermore, "[c]ommon-law certiorari is available only 'where no direct appellate proceedings are provided by law.'" Heggs, 658 So. 2d at 526 n.3. Accordingly, it is well-established that common law certiorari is not available when the petitioner has an adequate remedy at law. See Martin-Johnson v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987). "Certiorari is not a substitute for an appeal." State v. Smith, 951 So. 2d 954, 956-57 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007).

An extraordinary writ cannot "be used 'for obtaining additional appeals of issues, which were raised, or should have been raised, on direct appeal or which were waived at trial or which could have, should have, or have been raised in' prior postconviction filings." Mills v. Singletary, 606 So. 2d 622, 623 (Fla. 1992) (underline added). Here, Petitioner could have properly preserved this issue on appeal to the Circuit Court, but did not and, therefore, failed to present this claim to the Circuit Court in a procedural posture in which it could have been resolved in his favor. Furthermore, the Circuit Court cannot depart from the essential requirements of law by not considering a claim not made to Accordingly, Petitioner cannot demonstrate that the Circuit Court departed from the essential requirements of law by failing to present this claim in a proper appellate posture to the Circuit Court. Petitioner cannot use an appeal of certiorari to this Court, any more than he can to the First District, as a substitute for direct appeal to the Circuit Court. arguments made before this Court are procedurally barred.

C. The Circuit Court Did Not Depart from the Essential Requirements of Law.

1. The constitutional right to self-representation.

"Under the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Faretta[v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525 (1975)], an accused has the right to self-representation at trial." Tennis v. State, 997 So. 2d 375, 377 (Fla. 2008). "A defendant's choice to invoke this right 'must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.'" Id. at 377-78 (quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834). A defendant "must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834. As such, "the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments include a 'constitutional right to proceed without counsel when' a criminal defendant 'voluntarily and intelligently elects to do so.'" Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 170, 128 S. Ct. 2379 (2008)(quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 807 (emphasis in original).

These observations provide the legal foundation for the issue in this appeal. Faretta v. California, and this Court's cases following Faretta, is not a limitation on a court's ability to find a waiver of counsel; rather, Faretta establishes that a competent defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to be free from counsel when the defendant so wishes.

Amici² treat this constitutional right dismissively: "Presenting waiver

22

² The State has moved to strike the Amici Brief for its inclusion of extrarecord material. As of the filing of this brief, that motion remains pending.

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